IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI NO. 2011-CA-00304

GULFPORT SHOPPING CENTER, INC., ET AL

APPELLANTS

V.

WILLIAM H. DURHAM

APPELLEE

ON APPEAL FROM THE CHANCERY COURT OF HARRISON COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

Luther T. Munford (MSB: B. Lyle Robinson (MSB: PHELPS DUNBAR LLP 4270 I-55 North Jackson, Mississippi 39211 Telephone: (601) 352-2300 Telecopier: (601) 360-9777

Counsel for Appellants

CERTIFICATED OF INTERESTED PERSONS

INTRODUCTION

The corporate board used corporate rent income for corporate purposes.

Among other things, it paid third-party corporate debts which the plaintiff, a fellow shareholder and prospective purchaser, had stopped paying.

The chancellor erred in holding that the corporate board should not have used the rent income to pay creditors but instead should have paid it to the plaintiff even though it had no contractual obligation to do so. The trial court compounded its error by holding the defendant board members personally liable for the money even though the corporate debts they paid were genuine and none of the board members received any of the money.

The plaintiff had no right to the rent income. He had no right to the rent income the board spent and he had no right to other rent income which he personally pocketed but the chancellor did not require him to repay. *Durham v. University of Mississippi*, 966 So.2d 832 (Miss. Ct. App. 2007), held that the right to lease this corporation's shopping center belonged to the corporation, not to the plaintiff, even though he paid certain corporate debts pursuant to an option he ultimately did not exercise. That should also be the result here.

This court should reverse the judgment below and enter judgment here for the corporation against the plaintiff for the amount of rent income he wrongfully withheld from the corporation.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

1. Whether lease rentals belonged to the corporation and not to the plaintiff option holder, just as the right to enforce leases was held to belong to the corporation, and not to this plaintiff in *Durham v. University of Mississippi*, 966 So.2d 832 (Miss. Ct. App. 2007).

If so, the court need go no further.

2. In the alternative, if the party responsible to third party creditors was entitled to the Bruno's rental income, whether the corporation was the party entitled to the income because undisputed evidence shows that when the income was received in June 2000 the corporation was paying the creditors to cure corporate defaults which had arisen because Durham, among other things, had quit paying corporate obligations after April 19, 2000?

If so, the third question need not be decided.

3. If reached, whether the corporate directors are liable to Durham when the rent payments were spent on debts owed to the corporation's third-party creditors and none of the money went to the directors individually?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. Course of proceedings in the chancery court

In 2001, a year after the events that are the subject of this appeal, plaintiff William H. "Rusty" Durham, M.D., sued Gulfport Shopping Center Inc. and its other board members, including John M. Hill, Dewayne Williams, Michael V.

Shannon, David L. Strobel and C. Hadley Weaver ("individual shareholder defendants").

Durham is himself both a 24.5% shareholder and board member of Gulfport Shopping Center, Inc. He also once held an option to purchase the corporation and made an offer to purchase but he never met the required terms.

Defendant Williams originally owned the land on U.S. 49 near the Gulfport airport where the 6.2 acre shopping center is located. Defendants Shannon, Strobel and Weaver own an Alabama construction firm which built the center's only building and arranged to lease it to Bruno's Inc. as a Food World store.

After Forrest County Chancery Judge Sebe Dale transferred the case to Harrison County, the judges there recused themselves and this court appointed Judge James H.C. Thomas Jr. of Forrest County to preside over the case.

Judge Thomas dismissed most of claims on summary judgment. The dismissed claims included wrongful assertions that the sale of the corporation's sole asset, the shopping center, should be set aside. CP 4:508, RE 2.

He then held a trial on Durham's claim for an accounting and his claim that the board had no authority to spend \$263,988.99 rent income it received in June 2000 from Bruno's bankruptcy estate "for any purpose other than" paying off a corporate debt to a third party. CP 1:9 (Count 3).

At trial, the defendants proved that the money was used to pay off that debt and to pay taxes and other legitimate corporate expenses. The chancellor

nevertheless held that "good faith and fair dealing" required that the money be paid not to the creditors but to the plaintiff, and that the corporation and board members were individually liable for not having done so. He also allowed Durham to keep \$110,000 in other rental income. CP 5:615, RE 3.

After rendering judgment, Judge Thomas died. This court appointed Judge William J. Lutz to take his place. He denied rehearing, CP 5:686, RE 4, entered an order granting interest, CP 5:717, RE 5, and this timely appeal followed.

2. Statement of facts

Plaintiff Durham valued the shopping center at \$5.2 million. But the corporation owed approximately \$2.2 million to the Guardian Life Insurance Company of America and \$1 million to the City of Gulfport for loans used in its construction. T 1:124. That left roughly \$2 million in equity.

In 1998, however, the center's bankrupt tenant, Bruno's, Inc., stopped paying on its Food World lease which was servicing the debt. Plaintiff asked the company for an option to purchase all of its shares. The board granted the option.

The 1998 option. The term of the May 5, 1998 option was 60 days. D-57 Ex. 1, RE 6. It required that Durham bring the Guardian Life payments current and keep them current during the option period. He then had to, among other things, either get Guardian Life's permission to take over the corporation or pay off the Guardian Life loan. *Id.* The other shareholders were to be released from

their obligations to Guardian. Nothing in the option gave Durham any right to receive any rents from the property.

Durham worked on fulfilling the option but he never succeeded. The 60 days passed but the parties ignored that deadline. Durham kept the Guardian Life payments current through March of 2000. He worked on finding a tenant for the property. Over that period he paid \$648,251 for Guardian Life debt service and also paid certain taxes and insurance. But he never found a tenant, never obtained Guardian Life's permission to take over the corporation, and never paid off the Guardian Life loan, for which Guardian Life demanded a hefty prepayment penalty. So the stock powers were never turned over to him. T 1:137, 152, D-57 pp. 17-20.

Durham's sole objective was to lease the shopping center to the Mississippi Space Commerce Initiative ("MSCI"), a public body. He signed a lease which he hoped would rent the center and enable him to make an additional \$9 million on 31 adjacent acres he owned individually. T 1:219, 228. But MSCI never obtained the necessary approval from the Attorney General and MSCI's constituent members. On March 10, 2000, MSCI gave final notice that it would not honor the lease. T 2:225. See Durham v. University of Mississippi, 966 So.2d 832 (Miss. Ct. App. 2007).

P-31. Durham's accountant totaled \$912,239.96, which the chancellor credited, CP 5:612, RE 3, but P-31 shows that total includes the \$263,988.89 Bruno's payment Durham never got and so could not possibly have spent. T 1:96.

Durham quit making the Guardian Life payments. He did not make the payments for April or May 2000 or any subsequent month. T 1:167, 186-187, D-24. Even before that in January he did not pay the ad valorem taxes when they came due, and he got into a fight with the city about who was responsible for paying its debt and threatened to put the corporation in bankruptcy. He also allowed letters of credit that were part of the option to lapse. P-13. D-4, D-16, D-19. The building needed repairs. T 1:294.

Accordingly, Len Blackwell, the corporation's attorney, wrote the escrow agent on April 19, 2000 and formally terminated the option.² The board confirmed that action in a meeting on May 22, 2000. D-4, RE 8. Durham did not attend that meeting, but his proxy subsequently ratified the May 22 action in a board meeting on June 13, 2001. D-8, RE 11.

The June 2000 offer. Durham then came to the board with an additional proposal involving another potential lessee, IMIX, Inc. At a meeting on June 8, he was given 15 days to buy the stock if he would take the other shareholders out of all liability. The offer describes conditions related to Guardian Life and then sets out two alternatives that depended on whether rent money from the Bruno's bankruptcy was received within the 15-day offer period:

The chancellor erroneously gave the date of the letter as "May 19" not "April 19". CP 5:612, 615, RE 3.

If at the end of said 15-day time period, Dr. Durham satisfactorily performs all of said conditions, he will have the right to purchase all the stock of the corporation for:

- (1) If no money is recovered from Bruno's bankruptcy, then for all sums paid by the Corporation from now and after June 8, 2000 in order to reinstate mortgage payments, taxes and other corporate expenditures; but
- (2) In the event funds are received from said bankruptcy, then notwithstanding (1) above, the purchase price of the stock of all of the shares will be the gross amount of said funds (with 24.5% of said gross amount to remain in the corporation representing the 24.5% of all stock issued and outstanding which Dr. Durham now owns).

D-5, RE 9. The offer did not give Durham the right to any rents and in fact it required Durham to pay the other shareholders for their share of any rent that was received from the Bruno's bankruptcy within the 15-day offer period. Unlike its predecessor, however, it did *not* require that Durham make any payments to Guardian Life.

Receipt of Bruno's rent. The minutes show that on June 8 the board expected to receive from the Bruno's bankruptcy \$263,988.89 in rent for occupancy before the 1997 bankruptcy. D-5; T 1:170; P-15. It authorized Blackwell to place the money in escrow and use it to pay back taxes and bring current the Guardian debt. D-5, RE 9. The chancellor's opinion says the money was received on May 25, but the documents show that a May 25 check for that amount had been returned on May 30 because it referenced a shopping center that

was not in Gulfport. D-21. See T 1:193 (Durham admits "there was a small discrepancy in the first [check])." The money was eventually received in a second check which arrived on June 12. D-26.

At trial Durham testified that he did not know that a payment from Bruno's was coming until "late June." T 1:169. But he also admitted he got mad, left the June 8 meeting early, and stopped talking to the other shareholders except through his attorney, Tom Starling. Starling, however, remained at the meeting where the pending payment was discussed. When asked about that, Durham admitted "I think he stayed." T 1:248. And Starling's participation in the meeting was confirmed in a letter a few weeks later. D-63.

In any event, Durham never fulfilled the terms of the June offer and in August he refused a board invitation to make another offer. D-6, RE 10. The chancellor found that his ignorance of the pending payment, if any, was not the cause of his decision not to pursue the project further. CP 5:615, RE 3.

Eventual sale. In August 2000, to stave off foreclosure by the city, the board voted to extend an option and to eventually sell the property to board member Wayne Williams. D-6, RE 10. He got the other shareholders released from their obligations to Guardian. Williams, who is a defendant in this action, ultimately invested \$435,823.92 in debt payments and other expenses before he lost the property to foreclosure. P-47; D-30; T 1:213-214.

This suit. Durham filed this suit in 2001 and attempted to get the sale of the shopping center set aside. But after he filed suit, the board met on Aug. 12, 2001 and, with Durham's proxy *concurring*, voted to ratify the board actions of May 22, June 8, and August 17, 2000. T 1:277; D-4, RE 8; D-5, RE 9; D-6, RE 10.

The chancery court eventually granted summary judgment and dismissed all of Durham's claims except his claim for an accounting and his assertion that the board did not have authority to spend the Bruno's money on anything other than Guardian Life debt service. CP 4:510-11, RE 2. In so ruling it said:

The Court finds that there are no facts creating a genuine issues as to the corporate meetings held during the times in question when actions were taken which were within the discretion of the shareholders. Plaintiff participated by telephonic means, was involved, had his vote counted and waived any objection to the meetings.

CP. 4:510, RE 2.

Blackwell's accounting. At trial, Len Blackwell offered an accounting of all the Bruno's escrow money. D-9. His account lists a first expenditure as a \$75,683.74 payment to Guardian Life on June 13, 2000. D-9. Two more payments made the total paid to Guardian Life \$125,616.78. The Harrison County tax collector was paid \$67,987.40. Further payments were made to a property insurance agent, and the corporation's law firm, Blackwell & White. The last substantial payment was to the tax collector in April 2001. The balance as of the time of trial was \$20,679.77. D-9.

At the end of the trial the chancery court held that Durham had no right to repayment of the money he had spent to maintain the option while it was in force. It said he "cannot now complain that his bargain to pay corporate expenses was not what he intended to do in the process." CP 5:614, RE 3. It also affirmed the board's action that acknowledged termination of the option. CP 5:612, 614, RE 3.

Rent money ruling. But the court incorrectly held that Durham was entitled to the Bruno's rent income because it was "realized . . . during the period of time when Plaintiff, under the option and its acquiescence period, was responsible for corporate expenses." 5:615, RE 3. The chancellor based liability on a duty of "good faith and fair dealing." *Id.* He also held the individual shareholder defendants jointly and severally liable with the corporation for the rent money.

Having reached that erroneous conclusion, the court then held that Durham was entitled to keep the \$110,000 earned from a temporary rental of center property to State Farm during the option period, and dismissed the corporation's claim to recover that rent. CP 5:615, RE 3.

After Judge Thomas' untimely death, this court appointed former chancellor William J. Lutz to hear the motion for rehearing. He rejected the motion saying that reconsideration "would do nothing more than prolong an inevitable appeal." T 2:373.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

- 1. This court reviews de novo the interpretation of a contract because that presents a question of law. The obligation of good faith cannot change the requirements of the May 1998 option or the June 2000 offer. Neither one gave Durham any right to rent money. He could have bargained for that, but he did not. In Durham v. University of Mississippi, 966 So.2d 832 (Miss. Ct. App. 2007), the Court of Appeals held that Durham did not have the right to enforce a lease of the shopping center to MSCI he claimed was breached, even though he held the May 1998 option. Just as he had no right to enforce a lease to MSCI, he had no right to collect payments on other leases of the same property. This is true with respect to the \$110,000 State Farm paid as well as the \$263,988.89 received from Bruno's for a lease that was terminated before Durham's option went into effect. Durham did not testify that the option or the offer entitled him to receive rent money. His pleadings did not even contest that the rent money belonged to the corporation. They admitted the corporation was entitled to the money if it was spent on a proper corporate purpose.
- 2. In the alternative only, if the chancellor's principle, that the party paying the liabilities should get the benefit of the rents, were accepted, that would give Durham the State Farm money but not the Bruno's money. The chancellor's factual findings as to timing are manifestly erroneous. Durham admitted he

stopped paying the liabilities when he got an April 19 letter. And the undisputed documentary evidence shows the Bruno's payment was not received by the corporation until June 12 because an earlier check contained an error and had to be returned. At the time the money was received, the corporation was paying the liabilities. Paying the liabilities is what it did with the money.

3. In the final alternative, there is nothing to justify the chancellor's decision to hold the other shareholders personally liable for the Bruno's rent money. Even if Durham has a claim against the corporation for that amount, he does not have a claim against the individuals. The corporation spent the money to pay third party creditors who have to be paid first. All of the money was spent for proper corporate purposes. The expenditures were not ultra vires. And the proof shows that none of the money went to the other shareholders individually. There was no diversion of corporate assets.

ARGUMENT

I. Durham's contracts with the corporation did not entitle him to receive corporate rents even though he was bearing certain corporate expenses.

The interpretation of a contract is a matter of law, which is a matter this court reviews de novo. *Limbert v. Mississippi University for Women Alumnae Ass'n, Inc.*, 998 So.2d 993 (Miss. 2009). Here the chancellor erred as a matter of law in overruling the defense motions, T 2:262, CP 5:686, RE 4, and giving Durham a contractual right to rent for which he did not bargain and to which he did not even plead.

Precedent, the plain language of the options, and the surrounding circumstances all support the conclusion that Durham's options did not give him a right to receive rents the corporation earned. He did not have any right to the Bruno's rent income, and when he did not exercise the option he had no right to withhold the State Farm rent from the corporation.

Where the language is plain, the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing does not authorize a chancellor to rewrite the parties' agreement. *Limbert, supra*, 998 So.2d at 999. The exercise of a right to terminate a contract is not bad faith. *Lambert v. Baptist Memorial Hospital-North Miss., Inc.*, 67 So.3d 799, 804 (Miss. Ct. App. 2011). Nor is it bad faith for the parties to structure a deal so as to deny a commission to a party who would otherwise have been entitled to one. *Johnston v. Palmer*, 963 So.2d 586, 594-595 (Miss. Ct. App. 2007). Likewise, a

party which acts in accordance with the terms of the contract generally cannot be found to have violated the duty of good faith and fair dealing. *Baldwin v. Laurel Ford Lincoln-Mercury, Inc.*, 32 F.Supp.2d 894, 898 (S.D. Miss. 1998).

Precedent. The Court of Appeals has already held that Durham's partial performance under the option did not give Durham the right to ignore the corporate entity. In *Durham v. University of Mississippi*, 966 So.2d 832 (Miss. Ct. App. 2007), it held that Durham could not personally assert a claim against MSCI for breach of a 1999 lease agreement, because the lessor was the corporation, not Durham. *Id.* 966 So.2d at 835-836. In other words, the lease rights belonged to the corporation and not to Durham.

The Chancellor mistakenly rejected *Durham* as a guide on the ground that Durham was suing the corporation and its shareholders, not a third party. CP 4:510, RE 2. But in both cases the issue was whether the option gave Durham the right to exercise corporate power over corporate leases, and the result should be the same on both. He did not have that power.

The same principle applies here. Because any lease rights belonged to the corporation, not Durham, the corporation had the right to any rent received and Durham did not. Nothing in evidence in this case calls for a different result.

Plain language. Durham had two different opportunities to buy the stock.

The 1998 option was designed to last 60 days. It required Durham to keep the

Guardian Life loan current. It did not, however, give him any personal right to

option. When he failed to exercise the option, he lost any right he might otherwise have had to interim rent he had collected.

Similarly, the June 2000 offer was designed to last 15 days. It not only did not give him any right to receive corporate rents, but it also specifically contemplated that the Bruno's rent income would not benefit Durham in any capacity except as a shareholder. The terms required that, if the Bruno's rent income were received by the corporation within the 15-day option period, Durham would have to pay the defendant shareholders their proportional share of that payment in exchange for their stock.

The chancellor's ruling thus did exactly the opposite of what this bargain contemplated. Instead of requiring compensation to the defendant shareholders for their share of the Bruno's rent income, it required them to pay the whole amount to Durham.

Surrounding circumstances. A number of surrounding circumstances support adherence to the plain language of the option and offer and not giving Durham any right to corporate rents:

* The June 8 option treated the Bruno's rent income as a corporate asset and the board on that date set up an escrow account to receive it and permit its use for corporate purposes. On August 21, 2001, Durham's proxy voted with the board to ratify what was done at the June 8 meeting. See Keene v. Brookhaven

Academy, Inc., 28 So. 3d 1285 (Miss. 2010) (shareholders can ratify past corporate action).

- * Durham's complaint admits that the Bruno's rent income could be spent to service the Guardian Life loan, which was an unmet corporate obligation after Durham quit paying. CP. 1:9 (Count 3).
- * Durham did not answer the corporation's counterclaim for the State

 Farm rent money and did not deny liability for it until his counsel responded to the

 corporation's motion for judgment at the end of trial. T 1:336.
- * In his testimony Durham made no claim that the terms of the option or offer required that he receive rent money. See e.g., T 1:130. He also did not say that he had been promised rent money, or that anyone ever approved him having rent money.

Each of these points is consistent with the corporation's right to receive rents and are inconsistent with Durham's claim to them.

For these reasons, Durham is no more entitled to rents in this case than he was entitled to lease rights in the 2007 *Durham* case decided by the Court of Appeals. The board had every right to spend the Bruno's rent income for corporate purposes. Durham had no right to it and so what he did or did not know about it is, in the end, irrelevant. And once he failed to exercise any option, he had no right to withhold the \$110,000 State Farm had paid for a partial lease of the shopping center while he was negotiating with MSCI.

This Court should reverse the \$263,988.89 judgment in Durham's favor, dismiss all of Durham's claims with prejudice, and enter judgment for Gulfport Shopping Center, Inc. on its claim against him for the \$110,000, and remand to the trial court for the calculation of prejudgment interest on this liquidated sum.

II. In the alternative only, when the Bruno's rent income was received,
Durham was no longer bearing any corporate expenses and so was not
entitled to the rent.

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