IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI NO. 2011-CA-00304

GULFPORT SHOPPING CENTER, INC., ET AL APPELLANTS

v.

WILLIAM H. DURHAM APPELLEE

ON APPEAL FROM THE CHANCERY COURT OF THE FIRST JUDICIAL DISTRICT OF HARRISON COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

BRIEF OF APPELLEE, WILLIAM H. DURHAM

ORAL ARGUMENT NOT REQUESTED

MARK A. NELSON, MB No BRYAN NELSON PA Post Office Drawer 18109 Hattiesburg, Mississippi 39404-8109

Telephone: (601) 261-4100 Facsimile: (601) 261-4106

Email: mnelson@bnlawfirm.com

WALTER J. BLESSEY, IV, ME Attorney at Law Post Office Box 183 Biloxi, Mississippi 39533 Telephone: (228) 374-7022 Facsimile: (228) 374-7022

Email: <u>blesseyiv@yahoo.com</u>

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Plaintiff, a physician, was recruited by the defendants to invest in a real estate venture in Gulfport. Dr. Durham paid one of the individual defendants for shares in the corporation, a single asset, closely held entity. When the corporation's tenant went into bankruptcy and stopped paying rent, Dr. Durham agreed to take the project over.

The corporation and the individual shareholders agreed to an option for Dr. Durham to acquire the corporate stock and entered into an option executed by the corporation and for the individual shareholders. Dr. Durham performed his end of the bargain and funded the operations, significantly reducing the debt during that time. Meanwhile, the individual defendants learned about money that was to be paid by the tenant's trustee in bankruptcy, but did not inform the plaintiff Durham. The individual and corporate defendants terminated the option to convey the stock to plaintiff Durham, secretly received the trustee's money and spent it on, among other things, their own legal fees in this case. Ultimately the property was sold at foreclosure.

In summary, the plaintiff paid over \$1,038.251 in cash for the venture. The bankruptcy trustee's funds in the amount of \$263,000.00 were surreptitiously taken by the defendants during the option period and should have been paid to plaintiff. None of the defendants, who are real estate developers, lost any money since the project was funded 100% with borrowed funds. Dr. Durham brought this action to get his money back in excess of \$1.4 million and was only awarded \$263,000 by the Chancellor after trial on the merits.

After trial on an accounting, the Chancellor entered a detailed judgment making specific findings and conclusions. The trial Court found that defendants breached the option agreement

and failed in their obligations of good faith and fair dealings. The Court accepted the uncontradicted testimony of the expert accountant, and found the individual defendants liable under the option agreement. Appellants' arguments that the individual defendants are not liable because of the corporate veil are without merit. The defendants breached their fiduciary duties as co-shareholders in a closely held corporation and breached a separate option agreement. There is no basis to disturb the Chancellor's judgment.

ARGUMENT

A.

Whether The Chancellor Was Manifestly Wrong Or Clearly Erroneous

Chancellor Thomas made specific and detailed findings of fact based on "clear and convincing evidence" and based his conclusions of law on those facts. R.610. The appellate Court has a limited scope of review of the Chancellor's findings of fact. The Chancellor sits as a fact-finder and his conclusions are entitled to "substantial deference." Only if the appellate Court is convinced that the Chancellor was "manifestly wrong or clearly erroneous in his findings" may the appellate Court intervene. *R.B.S. v. T.M.S.*, 765 So.2d 616 (Miss.App.2000). Upon review of the record, the appellate Court accepts all findings of fact and reasonable inferences therefrom which support the Chancellor's findings. *In re Estate of Byrd*, 749 So.2d 1214 (Miss.App.1999).

Chancellor Thomas found that the defendants breached the option agreement and failed in their obligations of "good faith and fair dealings." R.610. The Chancellor had the authority to award a judgment in a monetary amount against the individual defendants finding them personally liable for acts of intentional wrongdoing, here in failing to disclose the receipt of the Bruno's funds notwithstanding the corporate veil. See *Bluewater Logistics*, *LLC v. Williford*, 55 So.3d 148, 160 (Miss.2001). Under these circumstances, the appellate Court ordinarily accepts a

Chancellor's factual findings unless "the Chancellor abused his or her discretion, and no reasonable Chancellor could have come to the same conclusion." *Id.* at 155. This Court should not impose its "own view of the facts." *Id.* at 156. The evidence outlined elsewhere, especially the fact and the expert accounting testimony, shows that the judgment was "supported by substantial evidence." *Id.* at 157.

"An accounting is by definition a detailed statement of the debits and credits between parties arising out of a contract or a fiduciary relation. It is a statement in writing of debts and credits or of receipts and payments. Thus an accounting is an act or a system of making up or settling accounts, consisting of a statement of the account with debits and credits arising from the relationship of the parties." *Union Nat'l Life Ins. v. Crosby*, 870 So.2d 1175, ¶3, n.2 (Miss. 2004).

An accounting "implies that one is responsible to another for moneys or other things, either on the score of contract or of some fiduciary relation, of a public or private nature, created by law, or otherwise." *Miller v. Henry*, 103 So.203, 204 (1925); *cited by* 870 So.2d 1175, at n.2. *See also University Nursing Assoc. v. Phillips*, 842 So.2d 1270, ¶8 (Miss.2003).

The Court accepted Ms. Chellie Eavenson, C.P.A. as an expert in accounting. T.93-94. Ms. Eavenson prepared exhibit P-31 which was admitted into evidence as her accounting and a summary of volumous records. T.95. Ms. Eavenson, within a reasonable degree of accounting certainty, calculated Dr. Durham's "basis" in the venture. She confirmed that Dr. Durham made the payments and those were properly credited within reasonable certainty. Dr. Durham made the payments for the monthly note, insurance, the stock purchase, taxes, maintenance and

accounted for the income from the tenant,⁴ State Farm. T.97-100. She also calculated interest due on the payments. T.101. The Court, however, chose not to award prejudgment interest.

R.609-16. She examined numerous checks, voluminous records, and confirmed that the payments were actually made by Dr. Durham during the times indicated. T.114-16.

The contract for the stock was still in effect when the defendants learned about the Bruno payment, and the defendants' taking the money violated the contract as found by the Chancellor. R. 609-12. The defendants argue that since Dr. Durham was no longer paying the corporate expenses at the moment in time when the money was received, then the Bruno payment was not due to be paid to him. Appellant's Brief at 13-17. That argument misses the point, since the defendants owed a fiduciary duty to Dr. Durham to act in good faith to give Dr. Durham the opportunity to credit his corporate expenses made in furtherance of valid contractual rights separate and distinct from the stock ownership. Instead, the defendants secreted the payment from the plaintiff and usurped Dr. Durham's prerogative to receive the Bruno payment. In fact, the defendants knew about the Bruno payment months in advance and failed to even inform Dr. Durham about it, ultimately seizing the money and using it to partially fund this litigation against Dr. Durham. See R. 610; D-9.

В.

Whether The Individual Defendants Are Liable

The record is clear that Gulfport Shopping Center, Inc. was a closely held corporation with a single asset in which Dr. Durham was a minority shareholder. As such, the shareholders owed duties to each other as fiduciaries. "We..., hold that in a close corporation where a

⁴ The Court specifically gave credit to rents received during plaintiff's option term which were paid by State Farm in the amount of \$110,000.00. The trial court stated: "These funds were found to have been received by plaintiff during the option period when he had full fiscal responsibility of the corporate activities and were received in consequence of his performance under the option which precludes any claim thereto by the other shareholders. The counterclaim of defendants is dismissed." R.615.

of the deline

majority stands to benefit as a controlling stockholder, the majority's action must be 'intrinsically fair' to the minority interest. Thus, stockholders in close corporations must bear toward each other the same relationship of trust and confidence which prevails in partnerships, rather than resort to statutory defenses." *Fought v. Morris*, 543 So.2d 167, 171 (Miss.1989), overruling *Ross v. Biggs*, 40 So.2d 293 (Miss.1949). Thus, the defendants here were not entitled to circumvent the corporation's agreements for their own benefit to the detriment of the plaintiff minority shareholder. "[B]lind adherence to corporate statutes may not be used to circumvent the corporation's by-laws, charter or various agreements, such as a stock redemption agreement, because of the 'intrinsically fair' standard we here adopt today." *Fought*, 543 So.2d at 171.

The defendants clearly circumvented the option agreement when the corporation and the individual shareholders "orchestrated" receipt of the Bruno's funds "without the prior knowledge or involvement" of the plaintiff. *See* R.613 (Judgment). The Defendants' conduct is intrinsically unfair and is a breach of trust and confidence by the defendants warranting the relief granted.

Appellants' reliance on Limbert v. Mississippi University for Women Alumnae Assoc.,

998 So.2d 993 (Miss.2008) is completely misplaced. Limbert supports the plaintiffs' prayer for affirmance. Brief of Appellants, at 13-15. An alumni association filed an action against MUW to prevent the termination of an affiliation agreement with the university. The Court held that the president of MUW could not have acted in bad faith when she exercised the contractual right to terminate the agreement, and that the Chancellor abused its discretion in ordering dissolution of the agreement. 998 So.2d at 998-99. The Court held that the defendants could not have acted in bad faith by merely exercising a clear contractual right, and that the plaintiffs offered no evidence of bad faith, since the case concerned a governmental decision for which the Chancellor could not substitute his interpretation. Id. at 998-1002. Although the Court observed that issues of contract construction are questions of law that are reviewed de novo, the Court

took great care to emphasize that the findings of the Chancellor will not be disturbed "when supported by substantial evidence" unless the Chancellor "abused his discretion, applied an erroneous legal standard, was manifestly wrong, or was clearly erroneous." *Id. Limbert* was simply resolved on the basis that the plaintiffs offered no evidence of "bad faith" and set out the general principle that all contracts contained implied covenants of good faith and fair dealings, that were not breached under the facts of the case. Good faith was defined by the Court as "the faithfulness of an agreed purpose . . . consistent with the justified expectations of the other party." *Id.*, citing *Cenac v. Murry*, 609 So.2d 1257, 1272 (Miss.1992).

In fact, *Limbert* supports affirmance here because the defendants acted outside the scope of the corporation, breaching the option agreement and the parties' course of dealings since those actions were not authorized by the contract. Moreover, the Chancellor did not rewrite the agreements, but enforced them consistent with the reasonable and justified expectations of the parties, including the plaintiff. *See* 998 So.2d at 999.

Likewise, appellants improperly relied on *Nash Plumbing v. Shasco Wholesale Supply*, 875 So.2d 1077 (Miss.2004) for the proposition that the corporate veil cannot be pierced in this case. Brief of Appellants at 21. *Nash Plumbing* is not a case between co-shareholders in a closely held corporation, and cannot be relied on to warrant reversal in this case. Here, plaintiff Dr. Durham was a minority shareholder with the individual defendants of Gulfport Shopping Center, which owed him fiduciary duties to act in good faith and tell him the truth, duties that were breached as a matter of fact, directly causing damages to the plaintiff. Moreover, *Nash Plumbing* turned on the procedural deficiency that there were not "sufficiently particularized allegations" to pierce the corporate veil of a corporation in which the plaintiff was not a shareholder. 875 So.2d at 1082. So, unlike the case of *Nash Plumbing* where the record "holds too many unknowns and too many contradictions," in this action the Chancellor was manifestly

correct in holding the individual defendants liable for their own misdeeds, conduct outside the scope of the corporate veil. See Id. at 1082.

Defendants also rely on Foamex v. Superior Products Sales, 361 F.Supp.2d 576 (N.D.Miss.2005) for the proposition that the individual defendants cannot be held liable since the corporate veil protects them from judgment. Appellants' Brief at 21. Again, Foamex does not shield the defendants since the case is about a stranger to the corporation suing for breach of contract. Distinguishing Foamex, the defendants here are co-shareholders who had fiduciary duties owed to plaintiff and parties to a separate contract.

The plaintiff is not a mere third party stranger seeking to enforce a commercial contract as in *Foamex* and *Nash Plumbing*, but sues for an accounting that was granted based on defendants' breach of the covenant of good faith and fair dealings and breach of a separate contract.⁵ The option at issue here was executed both by the corporate defendant and "for" the shareholders giving separate and independent rights to the plaintiff against his fellow shareholders. *See* Ex.D-4 (attached therein as "B") and R.613-14 (Judgment) (both contained in Appellee's Record Excerpts).

CONCLUSION

Because the defendants breached their duties to plaintiff, a shareholder, the corporation is liable and the individual defendants are personally liable for breach of contract. The defendants must account for the funds they secretly received, controlled and spent to the detriment of plaintiff's rights under the option agreement. None of the defendants informed plaintiff about the funds until after they terminated the option agreement and used the funds to pay for their own

⁵ See Bluewater Logistics, LLC v. Williford, 55 So.3d 148, 160-61 (Miss.2011) (individual members of LLC liable to minority member for breach of duty of good faith), citing Fought v. Morris, 543 So.2d 167 (Miss. 1989).

lawyers in this case. This Court should, therefore, affirm the Chancellor below since there are no errors warranting reversal.